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          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Good morning,

          3  everyone. Welcome to the City Council Parks

          4  Committee hearing. I'm sorry we're starting a little

          5  late, we were trying to accommodate certain people

          6  but we cannot wait any longer because we have such a

          7  heavy agenda.

          8                 I'm Wendell Foster, the Chairman of

          9  this Committee, and to my far left are two women

         10  from that Borough called Brooklyn, they can't be

         11  from the Bronx, unfortunately are not from the

         12  Bronx, Council Member Robinson and Council Member

         13  Boyland; and to my immediate right is our counsel,

         14  Ira Pers, and to his right is Frank Neeley, and

         15  others will be coming in.

         16                 The first bill we wanted to hear this

         17  morning, the Speaker is on his way up and he is

         18  desirous of testifying on this bill, and it's the

         19  bill for John Lindsay Park. The Public Advocate is

         20  also on her way here to testify on that bill, as are

         21  others.

         22                 Those of you who are desirous to

         23  testify on this bill, would you please, or anything

         24  that's on the agenda, please fill out a form that

         25  the Sergeant will give you. Just raise your hand if
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          2  you don't have one and they will be glad to supply

          3  you with a card to fill out so that you will be

          4  called to testify.

          5                 We have a very heavy agenda today and

          6  I'm going to ask you to work with me.

          7                 I do have other plans before

          8  midnight. We are doing something today that's

          9  unusual, we have never entertained the changes,

         10  street change names and park change names in the

         11  number that we're doing today since I've been here.

         12                 We're trying to do this in order to

         13  accommodate all of our Council members and also to

         14  try and let the families of the loved ones know how

         15  much we appreciate now and did appreciate what they

         16  did for us while they were alive.

         17                 If you would listen to me carefully,

         18  now there are several people here to testify on the

         19  same bill. You need not all testify. You may, if you

         20  absolutely must, but if you could let one or two

         21  individuals express for three minutes their support

         22  for the bill, then I will call to the microphone

         23  every person here in favor of that bill to say they

         24  are in favor, as well as those who are opposed to

         25  the bill, to say they are opposed.
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          2                 We're not going to have time for long

          3  testimony by a number of people, otherwise we would

          4  be discriminating against people who deserve to be

          5  heard.

          6                 Do you think that's fair? Audience,

          7  do you think that's fair?

          8                 So, if you have two, three, four,

          9  five, six, seven, a dozen people to testify, get

         10  your heads together now and decide who is going to

         11  do it, and others can simply say I'm for it, or I'm

         12  against it, and that will be duly recorded.

         13                 So, we will be guided by your

         14  decisions or your testimony in reference to voting.

         15                 Having said that, I failed to read my

         16  opening speech. I will simply say good morning

         17  again, and having joined us is Council Member Povman

         18  from Queens and Council Member Linares from

         19  Manhattan.

         20                 Our first bill we're going to hear

         21  today is sponsored by the Speaker and others, bill

         22  number, Intro. 884, and this bill would rename a

         23  park after Mayor, former Mayor John Lindsay. Those

         24  persons who are desirous of testifying, I will call

         25  you, and the Speaker will be up to testify.
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          2                 884, Rosie Mendez, Councilwoman

          3  Margarita Lopez' office, would you please come?

          4                 Just have a seat and identify

          5  yourself for the record, please.

          6                 I cannot hear you. You have to use

          7  the microphone.

          8                 MS. MENDEZ: I would like to call Mel

          9  Silverman --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Is he listed?

         11                 MS. MENDEZ: Yes, he is.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: What is his name?

         13                 MS. MENDEZ: Mel Silverman.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Mel Silverman,

         15  would you please come? You may have a seat, as well,

         16  Ms. Mendez. Sit down, please, either place. The

         17  Sergeant will make sure the mike is on, and please

         18  identify yourself for the record for this meeting is

         19  electronically recorded.

         20                 MR. SILVERMAN: My name is Mel

         21  Silverman. I'm a resident of the Lower East Side.

         22  I've lived in an apartment on Grant Street since

         23  1956, and my apartment overlooks the East River Park

         24  and the East River.

         25                 I have, since moving into that
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          2  apartment, been a regular visitor to the East River

          3  Park, and particularly to the tennis courts which I

          4  frequent. I was a great admirer of Mayor Lindsay, I

          5  shared with him enthusiasm for tennis, and I was

          6  shocked when on July 12th, 1972, I read a front page

          7  article in the New York Times in which there was an

          8  announcement that the Mayor was proposing a

          9  multi-million dollar program for improvement of

         10  tennis courts in the City of New York, the municipal

         11  tennis courts specifically, and looking and running

         12  down the list of courts I saw that the East River

         13  Park courts at that point were in sad neglect, were

         14  not included among those scheduled for improvement.

         15                 I then started a petition and got

         16  hundreds of signatures, which we sent to the Mayor's

         17  Office, never got a response. We continued the

         18  battle to have those tennis courts resurfaced and we

         19  had a battle to have the track resurfaced and we had

         20  a battle to have the baseball courts, baseball

         21  fields done. It went on until 1989, in the final

         22  year of Mayor Koch's Administration we finally

         23  succeeded and at that point I withdrew from being an

         24  active participant in East River Park matters.

         25                 However, when I saw that it was
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          2  proposed to name the East River Park in honor or

          3  Mayor Lindsay, I thought that was a most

          4  inappropriate choice, and I cite for the record the

          5  names of the parks that might be available that he

          6  listed, that were listed in the New York Times

          7  article as scheduled for improvement, and they were

          8  Riverside Park at 96th Street, Central Park where

          9  Mayor Lindsay closed the park on weekends and did

         10  wonderful things for the public.

         11                 Kassina Park, Rochman Park, Liberty

         12  Park, Marine Park, Manhattan Beach; then other

         13  courts mentioned were Mallaly Park, Randalls'

         14  Island, 59th Street and York, Parade Grounds and

         15  Cunningham, all these are options. I don't know how

         16  many of them remain as options but I think to name

         17  this particular park in honor of Mayor Lindsay who

         18  never even responded, whose office never even

         19  responded to a petition from hundreds of residents

         20  would be inappropriate.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: May I interrupt

         22  just a minute, please?

         23                 MR. SILVERMAN: Pardon?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: What you wrote to

         25  the Mayor, and his lack of response does not have
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          2  anything to do with this hearing this morning.

          3                 All we're talking about this morning

          4  is naming a park after a worthy individual. So, I

          5  would suggest, the Mayor's people are here now, they

          6  can perhaps take back to him the fact that he did

          7  not respond to any of your correspondence. So, you

          8  are here against the renaming of the park; is that

          9  correct?

         10                 MR. SILVERMAN: Yes. I thought I had

         11  said that at the outset.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 All right, Ms. Mendez, we will hear

         15  you and then the Speaker.

         16                 Thank you very much, Mr. Silverman.

         17                 MS. MENDEZ: Mr. Chair, Mr. Speaker,

         18  Council members, I am here on behalf of Councilwoman

         19  Lopez.

         20                 There is a strong community sentiment

         21  that the park not be renamed, people hold Mayor

         22  Lindsay in high regard and the Councilwoman does,

         23  too. She feels that he served with distinction;

         24  however, since the community does not want the park

         25  renamed, she hopes that the members will take that
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          2  in consideration and abide by the will of the

          3  community.

          4                 Her frustration was how this bill was

          5  introduced, and in the manner that she was informed

          6  about it. She was informed about this bill one day

          7  before it was introduced into a Stated Council

          8  meeting. She said she could not support a bill or

          9  sponsor a bill until her community had made a

         10  decision on it. Irregardless, her name appeared on

         11  the bill, on Intro. 884.

         12                 In July, I have a copy of the letter

         13  that she sent to you, Mr. Chair, to the Speaker and

         14  to everyone on the Parks Committee, asking that her

         15  name be withdrawn.

         16                 Since that time, representatives from

         17  the family of Mayor Lindsay have come to the

         18  community board and made a presentation. The

         19  community was very grateful for that; however, after

         20  hearing the presentations, and at the last meeting

         21  of the community board, of Community Board 3 on

         22  October 23rd, the community voted not to rename the

         23  park.

         24                 So, we hope you take this into

         25  consideration. Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: What's the

          3  present name of the park?

          4                 MS. MENDEZ: It's called East River

          5  Park.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And what's wrong

          7  with Mayor Lindsay's name, due to the park not

          8  having his name there?

          9                 MS. MENDEZ: Well, a lot of people in

         10  the community feel that the present name of the park

         11  not only lends itself to the geographic location,

         12  but also lends itself to the community, such as

         13  Central Park has done for the neighborhood

         14  community, the East River Park gives you a sense of

         15  its geographic location of the sense of the Lower

         16  East Side and the East Village.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: You are aware, of

         18  course, that when we rename these streets and parks,

         19  we do not take down old names, we simply put an

         20  additional name there.

         21                 MS. MENDEZ: Excuse me?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: When we are

         23  renaming streets, we do not remove the old name. We

         24  simply add an additional name to it. Now, I'm asking

         25  you, I should be speaking to the Councilwoman, but
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          2  is there any harm that could be done to this, being

          3  the East River Park, John Lindsay East River Park;

          4  does that make sense?

          5                 MS. MENDEZ: Yes, we were aware that

          6  that was the procedure for street naming. I was

          7  unaware that that was the procedure for parks, and

          8  I'm not sure the Councilwoman was aware of that.

          9                 But having said that, I don't think

         10  that she would have a problem with that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 MS. MENDEZ: You're welcome.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         15  much, and thank Council Member Lopez for sending you

         16  here.

         17                 We've been joined, to my far left, by

         18  Council Member Provenzano from the Bronx, and our

         19  Council Member and Speaker Mr. Vallone, from Queens.

         20                 At this time we will hear from our

         21  Speaker in reference to this.

         22                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you very much,

         23  Mr. Chair, and members of the Committee.

         24                 As you know, I rarely introduce name

         25  changes of any kind, but I think it's important
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          2  prior to the time that our tour of duty is over that

          3  we do recognize people who I believe have served

          4  this City so extraordinarily well.

          5                 Starting off with John V. Lindsay,

          6  who I originally opposed many years ago, came to

          7  meet him when I brought a thousand people to

          8  borough, to City Hall, as a very young man back in

          9  1969, to oppose what I think would have poisoned

         10  this doubling of the coal-burning capacity of plants

         11  throughout our City, and to my great surprise and

         12  delight John V. Lindsay agreed and not only stopped

         13  the coal burning, the expansion of coal burning, but

         14  stopped coal burning throughout the City and changed

         15  it to low sulfur oil. That's just one of tremendous

         16  benefits that John V. Lindsay brought to this City.

         17                 I came to know and admire him, as did

         18  most if not all New Yorkers, whether we agreed with

         19  some of his decisions or not, and I think naming

         20  this park is just a very small step in the direction

         21  of keeping his memory and the very good things that

         22  he did and the sacrifices he made to this City, so I

         23  strongly urge the Committee to adopt it.

         24                 While I'm here, with your permission,

         25  Mr. Chair, I'd also like to put a good word in for
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          2  several other bills, the Peter Chahales Park. Peter

          3  Chahales was a great person in Queens County who did

          4  an awful lot, not only for that community but for

          5  our county, so I would urge you to adopt that.

          6                 Father Mychal Judge was a saint of a

          7  man who gave his life just a few blocks from here at

          8  the World Trade Center, while ministering to a

          9  wounded fire officer, he, himself, was killed.

         10  Commemorating his name with a street name change is

         11  just a very small step in keeping his great memory

         12  alive.

         13                 St. Rocco's Place happens to be a

         14  parish in my district, in Queens, where the people

         15  have called upon me to make that change because it

         16  helps them in their worship in the area, and I think

         17  it's a fine change.

         18                 And Bernie Mendik is another giant in

         19  our City, who I came to know in my capacity as a

         20  leader of this Council, who appeared before us many,

         21  many times, never selfishly, always for what was

         22  best for the City.

         23                 And I'm also pleased to join with the

         24  Mayor in honoring Lee Strasberg Way in the Borough

         25  of Manhattan, a great person, great actor and a
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          2  great personality in our City.

          3                 So, I just would like to go on record

          4  of being in favor of all and urge the Committee to

          5  vote for these particular changes.

          6                 Thank you very much for your courtesy

          7  and cooperation.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Speaker.

         10                 I believe I did see the Public

         11  Advocate here. She's in the Council Chamber.

         12                 Excuse me, while I go hug the Public

         13  Advocate, I've never done that before.

         14                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Let the record show

         15  the Chair hugged the Public Advocate.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Would you please

         17  introduce yourself for the record and begin your

         18  testimony?

         19                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE ELECT GOTBAUM: I'm

         20  Betsy Gotbaum, I am currently Public Advocate elect,

         21  and I was formerly Parks Commissioner, from 1990 to

         22  1994, and prior to that I worked in many, many

         23  different jobs, but one I am particularly proud of

         24  is I was the Assistant for Education in the

         25  Administration of John Lindsay, and I think that's
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          2  what I'm here to talk about.

          3                 I'd just like to state for the record

          4  that, as you all well know, and I'm sure heard many

          5  times, John Lindsay was the man who not only loved

          6  New York, but he cared about making sure all people

          7  in New York had equal opportunity to use the parks

          8  particularly and recreation centers, and he strove

          9  to make sure that that happened. And because I was

         10  in his Administration I was conscious of that, and

         11  he made me learn how important those kinds of

         12  issues, recreation and parks and all of the things

         13  that we know our kids need that were very, very

         14  important to him.

         15                 On a second not, I just wanted to

         16  say, when I was Commissioner of Parks, we had the

         17  terrible tragedy of Brian Watkins, who was killed

         18  trying to save his mother's life, and we at that

         19  time made a decision to rename the tennis center in

         20  East River Park after Brian Watkins, and we were

         21  very pleased that the community was in favor of

         22  that. It seemed to be an appropriate thing to do,

         23  and, so, I was there when that happened at the same

         24  time. So, at this point I think it's certainly

         25  appropriate for me to say that I do believe the park
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          2  could and should be named after John Lindsay. To me

          3  it would be a fitting tribute for many reasons,

          4  including the fact that in the morning when he would

          5  drive down the FDR Drive to City Hall he would pass

          6  that park and see it, and to me it would just be a

          7  fitting tribute for him.

          8                 So, I wholeheartedly endorse the

          9  renaming of the park, and I hope the community will

         10  agree to do that too.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         12  much, Public Advocate Elect.

         13                 Excuse me just one minute.

         14                 SPEAKER VALLONE: I wanted to say what

         15  a pleasure it is to have her appear in a citizen

         16  capacity before she comes here in an official

         17  capacity.

         18                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE ELECT GOTBAUM: Thank

         19  you very much, Mr. Speaker. I'm very proud to.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: I just want

         21  to follow on the Speaker and thank the Chair for the

         22  opportunity and to welcome you in your leadership

         23  role for our City, and this will probably be the

         24  only opportunity that I will have formerly on the

         25  record to acknowledge your leadership before, when

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            18

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2  you were Parks Commissioner, and afterwards, in

          3  terms of the work that you have been doing on behalf

          4  of New Yorkers and now looking forward to your

          5  leadership as Public Advocate.

          6                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE ELECT GOTBAUM: Thank

          7  you, Council Member.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Sure.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: It's like family,

         10  so I'll be calling on you.

         11                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE ELECT GOTBAUM: Thank

         12  you very much, and thank you for giving me the

         13  opportunity to be here.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Council Member

         15  Povman.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER POVMAN: Thank you.

         17  Since you called on me, I would just like to, number

         18  one, support the John Lindsay bill. I think he did a

         19  lot for New York City. I'm also aware he had some

         20  enemies around, like all of us have, but I think on

         21  the whole the service was good, and with Betsy

         22  Gotbaum supporting it, how could we say no.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Betsy, that's a

         24  good compliment for you. Thank you very much.

         25                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE ELECT GOTBAUM: Thank
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          2  you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Council Member

          4  Boyland.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I also want

          6  to just, before we get to questions, just thank you

          7  for being part of this wonderful body and to come to

          8  talk with us in terms of what your issues are, but I

          9  had the pleasure of meeting you before you were

         10  Public Advocate, and I look forward to working with

         11  you in the new City Council.

         12                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE ELECT GOTBAUM: Thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         15  much. We'll be talking with you.

         16                 I spoke to the Speaker, here's what

         17  we thought of doing, would you listen to me

         18  carefully? In order to satisfy as many people as we

         19  can, we can amend the bill John Lindsay Park/East

         20  River Park, so that way we can accommodate everyone,

         21  if possible. We will not remove East River Park from

         22  the -- the name from the park; do you understand me?

         23  So, that's a compromise we can make, and the Speaker

         24  agreed we should do that, all right?

         25                 Sid Davidoff. Now, I haven't seen Sid
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          2  since John Lindsay was the Mayor. I didn't even

          3  recognize you, Sid. Welcome.

          4                 MR. DAVIDOFF: Reverend Cruz, I have

          5  also asked, in the interest of time to join us, he

          6  is one of the other speakers. Reverend Cruz I

          7  believe you have on your list.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          9                 MR. DAVIDOFF: And if I may, he's from

         10  that community, he lives and works and breathes that

         11  community, I thought he would go first and I would

         12  just make a couple of --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right. For

         14  the record introduce yourself, it is being

         15  electronically recorded.

         16                 REVEREND CRUZ: I am Reverend Cruz.

         17  First I would like to thank Chairman Foster, and

         18  members of this Committee, for this opportunity to

         19  express our support.

         20                 Good morning. My name is Reverend

         21  Getulio Cruz, I am the Pastor of Monte Sion

         22  Christian Church, a pentecostal church on East Third

         23  Street, between Avenue C and D. I am also the

         24  Co-Chairperson of Lower Manhattan together.

         25                 I am here to express the support of
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          2  Lower Manhattan together for the proposal to rename

          3  East River Park after former Mayor John V. Lindsay.

          4                 Lower Manhattan together is made up

          5  of 16 religious congregations and associations in

          6  the Lower East Side, East Village, Greenwich Village

          7  and Chelsea.

          8                 We work together to get concrete

          9  things accomplished and improve our communities. We

         10  are one of the five organizations in the City

         11  affiliated with the metro industrial areas

         12  foundation.

         13                 Since our founding five years ago,

         14  improving Lower Manhattan's parks has been one of

         15  LMT's highest priorities. Three years ago we were

         16  able to persuade our local Council members to

         17  support the renovation of Seward Park, half of which

         18  had been completed.

         19                 We were able to win new ball field

         20  lighting, new emergency call boxes and greater

         21  attention to the maintenance needs of East River

         22  Park, and then two years ago we approached Mayor

         23  Giuliani with a proposal to reconstruct East River

         24  Park.

         25                 For us East River Park was a top
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          2  priority. For a very large number of LMT's members,

          3  East River is the closest City park. People in our

          4  communities use the ball fields, the tennis courts,

          5  the picnic areas, the esplanade, many of our members

          6  live in the public housing complexes, along the FDR

          7  Drive across from the Park. Many members of my own

          8  church live right across the street from the park,

          9  and every Sunday afternoon when the weather is warm,

         10  we have a church softball game on one of the East

         11  River Park ballfields.

         12                 When we met with the Mayor in

         13  December of 1999, we asked the question that our

         14  members were asking: Why can't East River Park be

         15  just as great a city park as the Hudson River Park

         16  is on the other side of town? And we asked the Mayor

         17  to commit to a major renovation.

         18                 Now, some of you who know our groups

         19  all around the City know that we can be a very

         20  persistent people, but in this case the Mayor was

         21  just as enthusiastic as we were. He said, let's do

         22  it.

         23                 A month later in the State of the

         24  City Address, the Mayor announced the 5.6 million

         25  renovation of a portion of the park south of the
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          2  Williamsburg Bridge.

          3                 The Parks Department developed a

          4  first rate design and work on this reconstruction

          5  began in August of this year. We thank the Mayor and

          6  we thank this Committee for their support. There is

          7  much more to do, like rebuilding the seawall, which

          8  is a critical need, but East River Park is being

          9  reborn, and we think it is a fitting time to honor

         10  John V. Lindsay by renaming the park after him.

         11                 John V. Lindsay was a mayor who

         12  accomplished real things to improve the lives of

         13  people in Lower Manhattan and the Lower East Side in

         14  particular.

         15                 He worked to bring immigrants into

         16  the life of this City, which has what the Lower East

         17  Side has always been about. When LMT first started

         18  talking about this proposal among our members, on

         19  gentleman stood and told a story of how he said John

         20  V. Lindsay got me my first job in the City Youth

         21  Corps.

         22                 Lindsay presided over the City during

         23  some of its toughest years, so perhaps it is fitting

         24  to honor him by giving his name to a park that is at

         25  risk of falling into the East River. But that is
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          2  going to be saved with the help of this Committee.

          3                 During those tough years, John V.

          4  Lindsay worked tirelessly to bring people together,

          5  to bring the whole City together. Naming a park

          6  after this Mayor is fitting, because that's what

          7  parks do. They are places where people come

          8  together.

          9                 Some have opposed this proposal on

         10  the grounds that Mayor Lindsay was not from the

         11  neighborhood. Well, this park is not a neighborhood

         12  park, as much as anyone, we in LMT feel that this is

         13  our park. Our members see the park from their

         14  apartments across the FDR Drive, their children play

         15  there, many of us attended our graduation ceremonies

         16  in the park, but we aren't the sole owners of East

         17  River Park, all of the people of the City own this

         18  park. What LMT had been working for the last two

         19  years has been a great park that will attract

         20  residents from across New York City.

         21                 We want a park that's no longer

         22  isolated, that's linked up by back paths to other

         23  parts of Manhattan, that someday linked by ferry to

         24  the new Brooklyn Bridge Park. We want a park where

         25  athletes and sun bathers and picnickers and walkers
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          2  come from all neighborhoods, like they come to the

          3  Hudson River Park. Not a neighborhood park, but a

          4  great City park.

          5                 John V. Lindsay gave years of public

          6  service to this great City, to the whole City. We

          7  would be honored to have his name attached to this

          8  great City park, John V. Lindsay Park.

          9                 The other thing I'd like to add is,

         10  we're proposing a lot of changes, we working for a

         11  lot of changes along the whole East River waterfront

         12  and one thing that would distinguish the park from

         13  the rest of the East River waterfront, would be to

         14  be named just John V. Lindsay Park. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

         16  Pastor.

         17                 Sid.

         18                 MR. DAVIDOFF: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chairman, members of the Committee.

         20                 My name is Sid Davidoff, I served as

         21  Administrative Assistant to the Mayor during the

         22  eight years of his term, and I represent the Lindsay

         23  family, the immediate Lindsay family, specifically

         24  the widow, the children, and, of course, the

         25  extended family of the many thousands who still live
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          2  and owe their careers and their thought and their

          3  love for the City to that Mayor.

          4                 Very briefly, the whole East Side

          5  during those years, as many of you may remember, was

          6  truly one of the most chaotic places in this City.

          7  It was a microcosm, what was happening in this City.

          8  It was a changing population, Eastern Europeans were

          9  leaving and the new Hispanic immigration was

         10  beginning to build. There was a homeless element

         11  there in Alphabet City that was countless. Tompkins

         12  Square Park, Christadora House was, St. Marks Church

         13  was a place of the anti-war movement, of the

         14  unsettled, it was a magnet. The area was a magnet

         15  for runaway teenagers. It was the home of Abby

         16  Hoffman and the Yippies, the electric circus, it was

         17  something to see. It was an area that we put, John

         18  Lindsay put a tremendous deal of effort into. He

         19  created an Urban Action Task Force for that area,

         20  headed by his then Deputy Parks Commissioner and

         21  close confidant Teddy Masgiani. It was the first

         22  place that he created, and was created in this

         23  country, I believe, a shelter for runaway children,

         24  a reach-out program from a storefront. He put an

         25  entire new policing policy and community outreach,
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          2  it was the forerunner of today's community policing

          3  program, then headed by Captain Fink, it became

          4  nationally known in many magazine stories, that

          5  outreach to that population from Hell's Angels to

          6  the Yippies, and the park was especially a place

          7  where John Lindsay enjoyed, besides passing every

          8  day, as Betsy Gotbaum said, it was a place where he

          9  fielded the Lindsay Lances, which I was happy to

         10  play on against the municipal agencies. He, himself,

         11  had a demonstration tennis tournament there. It was

         12  a park, because he was as much the Parks

         13  Commissioner as the Mayor, it was the park that was

         14  important to him.

         15                 The trees that are planted there are

         16  in honor of his program for that Lower East Side, as

         17  well as to the Park.

         18                 I believe, and the Lindsay family

         19  believes that this is a great honor for this man.

         20  It's also a man who deserves this honor. So, on

         21  behalf of that family, and on behalf of the extended

         22  family, the Lindsay family, we thank you for this

         23  consideration and we appreciate it very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Davidoff.
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          2                 Any questions to either of the

          3  speakers?

          4                 All right, thank you very much. You

          5  are excused.

          6                 For those persons here that may be

          7  opposed to this, or in favor, if you will just stand

          8  now, and I will allow you to come to the microphone

          9  and say either you are opposed or for it, if you are

         10  here?

         11                 If not, all right, thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 The next one is Intro. 958. It is

         14  Chief Charles A. Joshua Plaza, by Council Member

         15  Boyland.

         16                 Mrs. Joshua, would you please come?

         17  And Council Member Boyland, would you tell us why we

         18  are doing this?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Sure.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Let me say again,

         21  we have a total of 18 items we've got to cover

         22  today. If you are here, you don't have to give a

         23  long speech, and I'm not saying this to you, I'm

         24  just simply trying to get us to understand we've got

         25  to get in and get out, and we've got to get people
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          2  so people can be heard.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Thank you,

          4  Mr. Chairman. I will try to be as brief as possible,

          5  but we are speaking about someone as great as Chief

          6  Joshua and it's hard to be brief. I will just read a

          7  brief statement that was prepared.

          8                 Since 1973, as the Executive Director

          9  of the Central Brooklyn Coordinating Council,

         10  Incorporated, Chief Joshua worked to stimulate

         11  cooperation among community agencies in the Central

         12  Brooklyn area.

         13                 Chief Joshua's deep love for the

         14  Borough of Brooklyn and the City of New York has

         15  been recognized with many appointments throughout

         16  this career, from the Borough Presidents to Mayors

         17  to Governors and by Presidents. He provided the

         18  Council, which is now called CBCC, the acronym, with

         19  professional leadership identifying and defining

         20  major problems and needs that affect the welfare of

         21  the people in Central Brooklyn.

         22                 As a leader in the community, it is

         23  only natural to have those who have helped recognize

         24  Chief Joshua work well and still continue to do so.

         25  As well as many community service awards and letters
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          2  of appreciation, which he has received, he has been

          3  named the International Man of the Year, in honor of

          4  the services to the business world and community

          5  leader of the year as well by the National Business

          6  League, New York Chapter.

          7                 In recognition of his good works, he

          8  was installed as a Chief of the Yuorba Tribe and

          9  Oeiki Nigeria (phonetic) on August 26th, 1989. Chief

         10  Joshua was a visionary, a fighter for the

         11  disadvantaged, community developer of Central

         12  Brooklyn, which he loved so dearly, Central Brooklyn

         13  Coordinating Council, CBCC, and Central Brooklyn as

         14  endowed with the rich legacy of which he leaves

         15  behind. It is only fitting that we co-name the

         16  intersection of Fulton Street, between Ralph Avenue

         17  and McDoogle Street, Chief Joshua Lane. This has

         18  also been endorsed and also supported by the Borough

         19  President Howard Golden, as well as the Borough

         20  President Elect Marty Markowitz, and a number of

         21  other elected officials that represent the Central

         22  Brooklyn area.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         24  much, Council Member.

         25                 Council Member Robinson.
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          2                 Who is catching a plane? Okay, then

          3  we have about 20 more people after you finish.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you so

          5  much, Chairman Foster, and to the Joshua family.

          6                 I'm delighted to have the opportunity

          7  to share in this celebration, because it's a

          8  celebration of life and also an acknowledgment that

          9  will be permanently etched in our community.

         10                 I knew and worked with Chief Joshua

         11  for many years, dare to say, I would dare to say

         12  about 30 years, when the development of the Central

         13  Brooklyn Coordinating Council took place, and as

         14  well as all the ensuing activities that took place

         15  after that. Chief Joshua indeed was a visionary and

         16  a leader. He was a man who cared and shared about

         17  his fellow man and fellow woman. He was one that

         18  brought new initiatives to the community. There are

         19  those that still stand in his memory: The Bedford

         20  Stuyvesant Community Mental Health Center, the

         21  Bedford Stuyvesant Legal Services. We also have

         22  Bedford Stuyvesant Restoration Corporation, he was

         23  also part of Medgar Evers College. He was the one to

         24  first talk about early intervention for children,

         25  and also he was working with those in terms of
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          2  health services, and also the one that said we

          3  should have a bus service from the Bedford

          4  Stuyvesant community to Gateway National Park, and I

          5  was very pleased to participate with him and all of

          6  those initiatives, and I take great pride in

          7  saluting his memory and his life, and also to be a

          8  part of this legislation that will permanently etch

          9  him in the history of the City of New York. Mr.

         10  Chairman, and to the family.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         12  much, Council Member Robinson.

         13                 All right, Ms. Joshua, would you

         14  introduce yourself for the record, please, and begin

         15  your testimony?

         16                 MS. JOSHUA: Good morning. My name is

         17  Anita Joshua, and I want to give honor to all.

         18                 I am Chief Joshua's wife. Chief was

         19  an outstanding leader. His diligency and

         20  steadfastness, his commitment to Central Brooklyn

         21  started many years ago. He dedicated his life to the

         22  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Just a minute,

         24  please. I just wanted everyone to know we are going

         25  to call for a vote. Thank you very much, Ms. Joshua.
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          2  Please forgive me.

          3                 MS. JOSHUA: Okay. All right.

          4                 All over the world he was recognized

          5  for his economic power in the Borough of Brooklyn.

          6  He helped the poor and the disadvantaged. His last

          7  endeavor was a foster care program. He believed

          8  faith without work meant nothing. He had a vision

          9  and he carried it out through CBCC.

         10                 Some of you have had the pleasure of

         11  working with my husband, and you know he loved his

         12  family, his friends, and most of all, CBCC.

         13                 But one thing about Charles, he

         14  believed there was no such word as can't, c-a-n mean

         15  can, and t meant to try, and he did just that.

         16                 So, in my conclusion I say to you,

         17  the Chief's work on earth spoke for him, therefore,

         18  a street name for Chief would serve as a last

         19  monument and a source of inspiration for other young

         20  people, that this would assure them that they, too,

         21  can.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Sir, would you

         23  introduce yourself for the record?

         24                 MR. JOHNSON: My name is Linwood

         25  Johnson, I am Chief Joshua's nephew. Good morning to
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          2  you and the other committee members, praise the

          3  Lord.

          4                 I have but two words to say about my

          5  uncle, dedication and inspiration and that's what he

          6  was about.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Amen. Thank you

          8  very much.

          9                 MR. JOHNSON: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Any other members

         11  here of the family or friends that would like to

         12  have their name just recorded? You may come to the

         13  microphone, give your name and just simply say you

         14  are for or against, all right? I'm not demanding

         15  that you testify, I'm simply just saying for the

         16  record, all right?

         17                 MS. ROBINSON: Yes, good morning.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: You're the

         19  daughter.

         20                 MS. ROBINSON: My name is Sharon

         21  Robinson, I'm Chief Joshua's daughter, yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I'm partial

         23  toward daughters. My own just was elected.

         24                 MS. ROBINSON: Thank you.

         25                 I am honored that this is happening
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          2  for my father. He was a leader. He did everything in

          3  his heart possible for anybody who asked him to do

          4  whatever it was that they wanted to be one. So, I am

          5  grateful for this honor. Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 Anyone else who would just like to

          9  have their names recorded to say yes or no? All

         10  right.

         11                 Council members, get ready now. I am

         12  going to ask our counsel to explain how we're going

         13  to vote on the record.

         14                 MR. PERS: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         15                 We have 18 items coupled for a vote

         16  together.

         17                 The following bills are coupled to be

         18  adopted: Intro. 564-A, 957, 978, 981, 982, 984, and

         19  884-A. The following bills are coupled to be filed:

         20  721, 771, 791, 793, 794, 822, 876, 897, 947, 958 and

         21  973. The bills you are filing have all been merged

         22  into Intro. 564-A, so it's just a technical matter

         23  that we're filing them to get them off the agenda.

         24  Those streets are actually going to become law.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: If you oppose
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          2  either one of these, let us know, otherwise we will

          3  -- excuse me. We are doing this to try to

          4  accommodate all of our colleagues, all right? We're

          5  ready for the vote.

          6                 Roll call.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Foster.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: May I pass until

          9  later, please.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fisher.

         11                 (No response.)

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Robinson.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Yes on all

         14  items.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Provenzano.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Yes. And I

         17  would just like to add, I really appreciated Sid's

         18  words, because he filled us in on a little history

         19  of John Lindsay, which I think really helped support

         20  the legislation.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Golden.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: May I be

         23  excused to explain my vote?

         24                 I vote yes on the bill. I think the

         25  bill is a great idea, I think there's a lot of good
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          2  street names here. Specifically the one, the

          3  American Veterans Memorial Pier, which was at 69th

          4  Street and Shore Road in Bay Ridge. I was a

          5  debarkation and embarkation of American troops to

          6  World War 1 and World War 2, and as you know, we

          7  lost about 180,000 men and women in World War 2, and

          8  it's the first sign that people returning to the

          9  Brooklyn Army Terminal would see, was that American

         10  flag on the 69th Street Pier, and we lost a

         11  tremendous amount of men and women over the last

         12  seven wars and we're very happy to be able to name

         13  this for our community and for the City of New York,

         14  and in honor of the American veterans that fought

         15  those wars, and to the American veterans that are

         16  fighting today in foreign soil.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Foster.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I'm going to be

         22  excused by the Chair to explain my vote, please.

         23                 I am going to vote aye on all of

         24  them. And in reference to John Lindsay, I don't

         25  believe we've ever had any Mayor that impacted upon
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          2  this City more than he did.

          3                 When John Lindsay became Mayor,

          4  people who now we call minorities were not included

          5  in government or in any activity in New York City.

          6  He opened up his heart in City Hall and in this City

          7  so that all Americans could be included.

          8                 I think he was one of the greatest

          9  men we've had in this country, and surely in the

         10  Office of Mayor. He reached out to all communities,

         11  he was never too big to go to the smallest

         12  gathering, or even the largest one, and while I can

         13  understand the reservation of Council Member Lopez,

         14  it hurts me to vote against a colleague, but I think

         15  if you understand what we're going to do, it will be

         16  John Lindsay/East River Park, which means we will

         17  keep both names there.

         18                 I also am happy that my friend Chief

         19  Joshua was being recognized, and I vote aye on all

         20  coupled general orders.

         21                 Council Member Povman now. Thank you.

         22                 Mr. Povman, will you vote?

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Povman.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER POVMAN: Aye on all.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Council Member
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          2  Reed was here, he stepped out, we will keep the vote

          3  open for awhile to see if he may come back -- he's

          4  on his way -- if he is desirous of voting.

          5                 Now, what we are doing today, Council

          6  members, the reason we are coupling all of these

          7  together, all of us have something in the hopper,

          8  almost all of us.

          9                 We are trying to make sure that we

         10  clear the calendar before we exist.

         11                 We will have another meeting the end

         12  of this month, so, therefore, if you have any item

         13  that you are desirous of us voting on, please get it

         14  to Ira immediately. We will have another meeting in

         15  December, the end of November and one in December so

         16  that we can perhaps get everyone taken care of

         17  before we adjourn. Is that all right?

         18                 I don't know what Tracy and these

         19  others are going to do after we leave. You can't

         20  trust these. Is that all right, everyone?

         21                 Okay, having said that, thank you all

         22  for coming, we stand adjourned.

         23                 (Hearing concluded at 11:05 a.m.)

         24

         25
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